FILED

MAY 20, 2015

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 32826-1-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER M. TASKER II,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

The Honorable Judge Blaine Gibson

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

LAURA M. CHUANG, Of Counsel Jill S. Reuter, Of Counsel KRISTINA M. NICHOLS Nichols Law Firm, PLLC Attorneys for Appellant P.O. Box 19203 Spokane, WA 99219 (509) 731-3279 Wa.Appeals@gmail.com

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Gloria Campos-White was in a school parking lot when a man approached her vehicle and demanded her purse. Ms. Campos-White testified he pointed a gun at her. After she gave the man her purse and told him she "didn't have any money," he climbed into the backseat of her car and told her to drive. After driving for a distance, Ms. Campos-White jumped from her vehicle. The car rolled over and the man left the scene. Ms. Campos-White later identified the man as the defendant, Christopher M. Tasker II.

The State charged Mr. Tasker with first-degree kidnapping with a firearm enhancement, first-degree attempted robbery with a firearm enhancement, and first-degree unlawful possession of a firearm. The firearm enhancements should now be reversed, because the State did not prove the firearm was operable.

In addition, the matter should be remanded for resentencing based on Mr. Tasker's erroneous offender score. Specifically, the trial court abused its discretion or misapplied the law when it failed to find that the first-degree kidnapping and attempted first-degree robbery constituted the same criminal conduct.

Finally, the trial court found that Mr. Tasker had the ability to pay present and future legal financial obligations. But this finding is unsupported by the record and should be stricken with resentencing.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. There is insufficient evidence to support the firearm enhancements, because there was no proof of an operable firearm.
- 2. The court erred in failing to count the first-degree kidnapping and attempted first-degree robbery offenses as "same criminal conduct" in calculating the offender score.
- 3. The court erred by finding that Mr. Tasker has the ability or likely future ability to pay legal financial obligations.
- 4. The court erred by imposing present discretionary legal financial obligations and by authorizing the imposition of future discretionary legal financial obligations, including a \$600 court-appointed attorney recoupment, \$1,000 for the costs of incarceration, any costs of medical care incurred by Yakima County on behalf of the defendant, and the potential award of appellate costs.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- Issue 1: Whether there is insufficient evidence to support the firearm enhancements, because there was no proof of an operable firearm.
- Issue 2: Whether the trial court erred in failing to count the first-degree kidnapping and attempted first-degree robbery offenses as "same criminal conduct" in calculating the offender score.
- Issue 3: Whether the trial court's finding of ability to pay present or future discretionary legal financial obligations was unsupported by the record and requires resentencing.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 13, 2013, Gloria Campos-White sat in the driver's seat of her parked car outside the Selah Intermediate School, reading a book. (RP 420–421). A man approached her vehicle. (RP 424, 428). Ms. Campos-White said the man pointed a gun at her and demanded she give him her purse. (RP 428–429). Ms. Campos-White handed the man her purse and said "I don't have any money." (RP 429). In response, the man appeared fidgety, opened the car door behind Ms. Campos-White, and climbed inside her car with the purse. (RP 430). He told Ms. Campos-White to drive and directed her away from the school. (RP 430–433). Ms. Campos-White said she thought she heard a "clicking" sound behind her and presumed it was the sound of the gun. (RP 431, 453–454).

After driving a distance with the man in the car directing her where to go, Ms. Campos-White decided to jump from the moving vehicle. (RP 431–435). Without its driver, the car flipped over and the man fled the scene. (RP 342, 440). At trial, Ms. Campos-White identified the man as Christopher Michael Tasker II. (RP 435–436).

The State charged Mr. Tasker with first-degree kidnapping with a firearm enhancement, attempted first-degree robbery with a firearm enhancement, and first-degree unlawful possession of a firearm. (CP 6-7).

The case proceeded to a jury trial. (RP 328–765). The gun allegedly used by Mr. Tasker was not produced at trial. (RP 328–765).

Ms. Campos-White testified consistent with the facts stated above. (RP 418–460). In addition, she testified the gun Mr. Tasker had was dark grey or black and that he was able to hold it in one hand. (RP 436, 451). Ms. Campos-White acknowledged she did not know much about guns, did not know the difference between a revolver and a semi-automatic or other types of guns, and had never seen a gun in real life. (RP 436, 451–452). She could not give any other descriptive details about the gun and testified she did not see the gun again after it was initially pointed at her. (RP 430–431, 452–54).

After the State rested, Mr. Tasker moved to dismiss the firearm enhancements. (RP 709–711; CP 17–18). Mr. Tasker argued there was insufficient evidence that he possessed an operable firearm. (RP 709–711). The trial court reserved ruling until after the jury's verdict. (RP 719–720).

The trial court instructed the jury that in order to convict Mr.

Tasker of first-degree kidnapping, it had to find the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about the June 13, 2013, [Mr. Takser] intentionally abducted another person;
- (2) That [Mr. Tasker] abducted that person with intent to facilitate the commission of Attempted First Degree Robbery or flight thereafter, and
- (3) That the acts occurred in The State of Washington.

(CP 30).

For the firearm enhancements, the trial court instructed the jury:

For purposes of a special verdict the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was armed with a firearm at the time of the commission of the crime in Counts 1 and 2.

(CP 36; RP 746).

The following definitional instruction was given to the jury:

A "firearm" is a weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder.

(CP 34; RP 745).

The jury found Mr. Tasker guilty as charged. (RP 774–75; CP 40–44).

After the jury's verdict, Mr. Tasker moved to set aside the verdict based upon insufficient evidence of an operable firearm. (RP 787–807; CP 17–18, 51–54). Although the trial court doubted the sufficiency of the State's evidence to prove a firearm existed, the trial court denied Mr. Tasker's motion. (RP 713–715, 789, 791, 793, 806–807).

At sentencing, Mr. Tasker argued that the court should count the offenses of first-degree kidnapping and attempted first-degree robbery as

"same criminal conduct" for purposes of calculating his offender score. (RP 817–820). The court refused to do so, reasoning that the attempted robbery was completed when Ms. Campos-White gave Mr. Tasker her purse, and, therefore, the kidnapping had a separate criminal intent. (RP 821–822).

Also at sentencing, Mr. Tasker requested the trial court consider his ability to pay legal financial obligations. (RP 839). The trial court inquired and discovered Mr. Tasker had a minimum-wage earning capacity and history, acknowledged he would likely never be able to pay the restitution in the case, and would be incarcerated and thus unable to earn income for a very long time. (RP 840, 846–847). The trial court then imposed discretionary costs of \$600 (court appointed attorney recoupment) and mandatory costs of \$143,665.95¹, for total legal financial obligations of \$144,265.95. (CP 64; RP 846).

_

¹ \$500 Victim Assessment, \$200 criminal filing, \$100 DNA fee, and \$142,865.95 in restitution. (CP 64).

The Judgment and Sentence contains the following language:

¶ 2.7 Financial Ability: The Court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past, present, and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. The court finds that the defendant is an adult and is not disabled and therefore has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein. RCW 9.94A.753.

(CP 61).

The trial court also found Mr. Tasker had the means to pay the costs of incarceration of up to \$1,000 and ordered him to pay those costs. (CP 64; RP 847). In addition, the trial court found Mr. Tasker had the means to pay the costs of any medical care incurred by Yakima County on his behalf, and ordered him to pay those costs. (CP 64). The court ordered Mr. Tasker to begin paying the costs and assessments within 180 days after his release at a monthly amount to be determined by the Yakima County Clerk. (CP 64). The court also ordered that "[a]n award of costs on appeal against the defendant may be added to the total financial obligations. RCW 10.73.160." (CP 64).

The trial court found Mr. Tasker indigent for purposes of appeal. (RP 848–850). Mr. Tasker timely appealed. (CP 69).

E. ARGUMENT

Issue 1: Whether there is insufficient evidence to support the firearm enhancements, because there was no proof of an operable firearm.

In every criminal prosecution, due process requires that the State prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, every fact necessary to constitute the charged crime. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). "[I]n order to prove a firearm enhancement, the State must introduce facts upon which the jury could find beyond a reasonable doubt the weapon in question falls under the definition of a 'firearm'. . . ."

State v. Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d 428, 437, 180 P.3d 1276, 1281 (2008).

Where a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence, the proper inquiry is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (citing *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)). "[A]ll reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant." *Id.* (citing *State v. Partin*, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906-07, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977)). Furthermore, "[a] claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn

therefrom." *Id.* (citing *State v. Theroff*, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254 (1980)).

To prove the firearm enhancements, the State was required to prove Mr. Tasker was armed with a firearm at the time of the underlying crimes. RCW 9.94A.533(3) (firearm enhancement statute); RCW 9.41.010(9) (firearm definition); see also CP 41, 43. A firearm is defined as "a weapon or device from which a projectile or projectiles may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder." RCW 9.41.010(9); see also CP 34. In addition, in order to prove the firearm enhancements, the State must present the jury with sufficient evidence to find that a firearm is operable under this definition. State v. Pierce, 155 Wn. App. 701, 714, 230 P.3d 237 (2010) (citing Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d at 437). "A gun-like object incapable of being fired is not a 'firearm' under this definition." State v. Pam, 98 Wn.2d 748, 754, 659 P.2d 454, 457 (1983) overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown, 113 Wn. 2d 520, 782 P.2d 1013 (1989).

In *Pierce*, the court found there was insufficient evidence to establish the defendant was armed with an operable firearm. *Pierce*, 155 Wn. App. at 714. The witnesses in that case were awakened in their home and saw an intruder holding what appeared to be a handgun. *Id.* at 705. However, because no other evidence of operability was introduced, such

as bullets found, gunshots heard, or muzzle flashes, the evidence was insufficient to support a firearm sentencing enhancement. *Id.* at 714 n.11.

Here, the State did not prove the firearm enhancements because it did not prove the gun allegedly used by Mr. Tasker was operable. See RCW 9.41.010(9); see also Pierce, 155 Wn. App. at 714 (citing Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d at 437); Pam, 98 Wn.2d at 754. No firearm was recovered in this case, and the State did not prove the gun seen by Ms. Campos-White was capable of firing a projectile. (RP 429–430); see also RCW 9.41.010(9) (firearm definition). Ms. Campos-White did testify she saw Mr. Tasker holding a gun. (RP 429–430). However, she also testified she has never seen a real gun before, could not tell the difference between a revolver and other types of guns, and had no personal experience with guns. (RP 436, 451–52). She could only describe the object Mr. Tasker was holding as dark-colored and that he was able to hold it in one hand. (RP 436). She believed she heard a "clicking" sound behind her, but no foundation was laid to prove she knew the "clicking" sound to be that of a gun. (RP 431). She expressly indicated she had "never seen a gun in real life." (RP 451). No other evidence was presented by the State to prove the gun was operable. See RCW 9.41.010(9); see also Pierce, 155 Wn. App. at 714 (citing *Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d at 437); *Pam*, 98 Wn.2d at 754. At most, if Ms. Campos-White's testimony is believed, the State proved

Mr. Tasker had a gun; however, there was no evidence that it was operable or capable of being fired. (RP 418–460).

There was insufficient evidence that Mr. Tasker was armed with an operable firearm. *See* RCW 9.94A.533(3) (firearm enhancement statute); RCW 9.41.010(9) (firearm definition); *Pierce*, 155 Wn. App. at 714 (citing *Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d at 437); *Pam*, 98 Wn.2d at 754. Therefore, a rational trier of fact could not have found the existence of the firearm enhancements. *See Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d at 201 (*citing Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 220-22); *see also Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d at 437. The two firearm enhancements should be dismissed and the matter remanded for resentencing without the firearm enhancements. *See Pierce*, 155 Wn. App. at 715 (setting forth this remedy).

Issue 2: Whether the trial court erred in failing to count the first degree kidnapping and attempted first degree robbery offenses as "same criminal conduct" in calculating the offender score.

The offender score establishes the standard range term of confinement for a felony offense. RCW 9.94A.530(1); RCW 9.94A.525. The sentencing court calculates an offender score by adding current offenses and prior convictions. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). "A defendant's current offenses must be counted separately in determining the offender score unless the trial court finds that some or all of the current offenses

'encompass the same criminal conduct.'" *State v. Anderson*, 92 Wn. App. 54, 61, 960 P.2d 975 (1998); *see also* RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

"Same criminal conduct" is defined as "two or more crimes that require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). The absence of any of these elements precludes a finding of "same criminal conduct." *State v. Vike*, 125 Wn.2d 407, 410, 885 P.2d 824 (1994).

Appellate courts review determinations of same criminal conduct for abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law. *State v. Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d 531, 535-36, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). "Under this standard, when the record supports only one conclusion on whether crimes constitute the 'same criminal conduct,' a sentencing court abuses its discretion in arriving at a contrary result." *Id.* at 537-38. The defendant bears the burden of proving the crimes constitute the same criminal conduct. *Id.* at 539.

Here, the first-degree kidnapping and attempted first-degree robbery counts were the "same criminal conduct." *See* RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) (defining same criminal conduct). First, these two counts were committed at the same time and place. Mr. Tasker attempted to take Ms. Campos-White's purse and then got into her car and demanded she drive in a continuous, uninterrupted sequence of events during a short

period of time. (RP 428–430); *see State v. Porter*, 133 Wn.2d 177, 183, 942 P.2d 974 (1997) ("same time" element of "same criminal conduct" statute was proven where sequential drug sales occurred as closely in time as they could without being simultaneous because the sales were part of a continuous, uninterrupted sequence of conduct over a short period of time). The offenses involved the same place, as Ms. Campos-White was in the parking lot of the school when the attempted robbery and kidnapping occurred. (RP 420, 428–430).

Second, the offenses involved the same victim, Ms. Campos-White. (RP 428–430).

Third, the crimes involved the same criminal intent. "Intent, in this context, is not the particular *mens rea* element of the particular crime, but rather is the offender's objective criminal purpose in committing the crime." *State v. Phuong*, 174 Wn. App. 494, 546, 299 P.3d 37 (2013) (citing *State v. Adame*, 56 Wn. App. 803, 811, 785 P.2d 1144 (1990)). "In determining whether multiple crimes constitute the same criminal conduct, courts consider 'how intimately related the crimes are,' 'whether, between the crimes charged, there was any substantial change in the nature of the criminal objective,' and 'whether one crime furthered the other.'" *Id.* at 546–47 (quoting *State v. Burns*, 114 Wn.2d 314, 318, 788 P.2d 531 (1990)). The standard is the extent to which the criminal intent,

objectively viewed, changed from one crime to the next. *Vike*, 125 Wn.2d at 411 (citing *State v. Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P.2d 1237, 749 P.2d 160 (1987)). When one crime furthers another, same criminal conduct applies. *State v. Garza-Villarreal*, 123 Wn.2d 42, 47, 864 P.2d 1378 (1993); *see also Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d at 217. And, "if one crime furthered another, and if the time and place of the crimes remained the same, then the defendant's criminal purpose or intent did not change and the offenses encompass the same criminal conduct." *State v. Lessley*, 118 Wn.2d 773, 777, 827 P.2d 996 (1992).

In *Dunaway*, the Court found the offenses of robbery and kidnapping encompassed the same criminal conduct. *Dunaway*, 109

Wn.2d at 217. The defendant pleaded guilty to the charge of abducting his victim with the intent to commit robbery. *Id.* The Court noted it was the defendant's "very intent to commit robbery that enabled the prosecutor to raise the charge from second degree to first degree kidnapping" because the kidnapping charge necessarily included robbery as an element of the offense and the kidnapping furthered the robbery. *Id.* Thus, the objective intent behind both crimes was the robbery. *Id.*

Here, the first-degree kidnapping furthered the attempted first-degree robbery. *See Garza-Villarreal*, 123 Wn.2d at 47. Mr. Tasker was found guilty of first-degree kidnapping on the basis that he abducted Ms.

Campos-White "with intent to facilitate the commission of Attempted First Degree Robbery or flight thereafter. . . ." (CP 30, 40). The attempted robbery was an element of the first degree kidnapping charge. (CP 30, 40). The jury found the kidnapping furthered the attempted robbery because the abduction facilitated the crime or flight from it. (CP 40). From an objective standpoint, the attempted first degree robbery and first degree kidnapping had the same criminal intent. That intent did not change; the same intent is what the jury found. (CP 30, 40).

In addition, the trial court reasoned same criminal conduct did not apply because the attempted robbery was completed before Mr. Tasker kidnapped Ms. Campos-White. (RP 821-822). The court noted Mr. Tasker did not ask for anything else once he had the purse and that there was no evidence he was still attempting to rob her. (RP 821). However, Ms. Campos-White testified that when she handed Mr. Tasker her purse, she also told him she did not have any money. (RP 429-430). He then forced his way into her car. (RP 430). The evidence shows Mr. Tasker's intent behind the kidnapping was the robbery because Mr. Tasker was still trying to obtain money from Ms. Campos-White. (RP 430).

In sum, the crimes of first-degree kidnapping and attempted first-degree robbery constituted the same criminal conduct in this case. The first-degree kidnapping and attempted first-degree robbery involved the

same time and place, the same victim, and the same intent. *See* RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) (defining same criminal conduct); *see also Phuong*, 174 Wn. App. at 546 (defining intent in this context) (citing *Adame*, 56 Wash. App. at 811). The two crimes were part of a continuous transaction, and the jury found that the kidnapping charge encompassed the crime of attempted first degree robbery. (CP 30, 40). The trial court misapplied the law or abused its discretion in failing to find first-degree kidnapping and attempted first-degree robbery were the same criminal conduct. *See Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d at 535-36. The matter sentence should be reversed and remanded for resentencing, with the first degree kidnapping and attempted first degree robbery counted as one crime. *See* RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

Issue 3: Whether the trial court's finding of ability to pay present or future discretionary legal financial obligations was unsupported by the record and requires resentencing.

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