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

III.  ARGUMENT 
 

The evidence presented was more than sufficient to support the 

firearm enhancements against Appellant.  The trial court sat through this 

entire trial, heard all of the testimony and sentenced the defendant based 

on that evidence.  The two crimes were in fact separate and distinct, the 

trial court properly counted them as separate crimes for sentencing 

purposes.   

The trial court in this case heard from the defendant regarding his 

ability to pay the costs of his criminal actions.  The court determination 

that Tasker had the present and future ability to pay is supported by the 

record. The fact that a defendant is found to be “indigent” for purposes of 

trial or appeal does not preclude a determination that that defendant has 

the future ability to pay costs associated with the crimes that he 

committed.  And in conformity with the information before the court the 

legal financial obligations which were imposed were done so properly.   

RESPONSE TO ISSUE ONE – WEAPON ENHANCEMENT.   

Appellant does not challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to 

support his convictions for First Degree Robbery, First Degree 

Kidnapping or Unlawful Possession of a Firearm.  He does challenge the 

sufficiency of the evidence supporting the firearm enhancements that were 
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imposed.  

In reviewing any challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this 

court will view the evidence in a light most favorable to the State to 

determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential 

elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 

94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (quoting Jackson v. Virginia, 

443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)).     

A defendant claiming insufficiency admits the truth of the State's 

evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn in favor of the State, with 

circumstantial evidence and direct evidence considered equally reliable. 

State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992); State v. 

Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).    The elements of a 

crime can be established by both direct and circumstantial evidence.   

State v. Brooks, 45 Wn. App. 824, 826, 727 P.2d 988 (1986).   One is no 

less valuable than the other.  There is sufficient evidence to support the 

conviction if a rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime 

proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Circumstantial evidence and direct 

evidence are equally reliable. State v. Dejarlais, 88 Wash. App. 297, 305, 

944 P.2d 1110 (1997), aff'd, 136 Wash.2d 939, 969 P.2d 90 (1998).  

Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not 

subject to review. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 
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(1990).  "It is axiomatic in criminal trials that the prosecution bears the 

burden of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the 

accused as the person who committed the offense." State v. Hill, 83 

Wn.2d 558, 560, 520 P.2d 618 (1974). 

The trial court was presented with an almost identical argument 

after the verdict was rendered and determined that there had been 

sufficient facts presented to support the jury’s findings.   (CP 45-54, RP 

709-22, 725-27, 778-9, 780, 787- 92, 806) 

The facts presented to the jury were without a doubt sufficient to 

meet the test set forth in, State v. Bucknell, 183 P.3d 1078, 1080 (WA 

2008);  

In reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence 
challenge, the test is whether, after viewing the 
evidence in a light most favorable to the jury's 
verdict, any rational trier of fact could have found 
the essential elements of the crime beyond a 
reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 
220-21, 16 P.2d 628 (1980). All reasonable 
inferences from the evidence must be drawn in 
favor of the State and interpreted most strongly 
against the defendant. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 
192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). (Emphasis mine.) 

 
 To convict Appellant of unlawful possession of a firearm or 

impose a firearm enhancement, the State had the burden of proving that 

Tasker was armed during commission of the crime with a "firearm, “i.e., 

"a weapon or device from which a projectile or projectiles may be fired by 
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an explosive such as gunpowder." RCW 9.41.010(9). Citing State v. 

Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d 428, 180 P.3d 1276(2008), and several other cases, 

Tasker contends this burden required the State to prove the firearm was 

"operable." See Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d at 437 "We have held that a jury 

must be presented with sufficient evidence to find a firearm operable ... in 

order to uphold the enhancement."; State v. Pam. 98 Wn.2d 748, 754, 659 

P.2d 454 (1983) "A gun-like object incapable of being fired is not a 

'firearm.'"; State v. Pierce, 155 Wn.App. 701, 714 n.11, 230 P.3d 237 

(2010) “Where the firearm is not presented as evidence, there must be 

"other evidence of operability, such as bullets found, gunshots heard, or 

muzzle flashes." 

The State would strongly disagree with Tasker’s argument that 

there was insufficient evidence presented to support the enhancements.  

While not an enormous amount of evidence was present it was sufficient 

to allow the question to go to the jury and the jury found that evidence 

supported the State’s position.   Sufficient evidence shows Tasker 

possessed and displayed a real gun.  State v. Raleigh, 157 Wn.App. 728, 

734-5, 238P.3d 1211 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1029, 249 P.3d 

624 (2011) sets out that the firearm need not be operable during 

commission of crime to constitute a firearm; indicating that the language 

in Recuenco is dicta; State v. Padilla. 95 Wn.App. 531, 535, 978 P.2d 
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1113 (1999) "a disassembled firearm that can be rendered operational with 

reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period is a firearm", review 

denied at 139 Wn.2d 1003, 989 P.2d 1142 (1999) 

 State v. Faust, 93 Wn.App. 373, 380, 967 P.2d 1284 (1998) sets 

forth exactly what must be distinguished indicating that language in Pam 

on operability refers to the difference between a toy gun and a gun in fact; 

a gun incapable of being fired due to a mechanical defect is still a firearm. 

Even if this court were to assume proof of operability is required, 

this court has previously held that operability may be inferred from 

evidence showing a threat to use a real gun. In State v. Mathe, 35 

Wn.App. 572, 668 P.2d 599 (1983), affirmed, 102 Wn.2d 537, 688 P.2d 

859 (1984), this court held that the State had proven the defendant "used a 

real and operable gun" because eyewitnesses described the guns and the 

defendant's express or implied threat to use them. Mathe, 35 Wn.App. at 

581-82.  Similarly, this court in State v. Bowman. 36 Wn.App. 798, 803, 

678 P.2d 1273 (1984), review denied. 101 Wn.2d 1015 (1984), held that 

eyewitness testimony describing a "real" gun and recounting a threat to 

use it was sufficient to establish "the existence of a real, operable gun in 

fact."  The Bowman court goes on to state “[t]he State need not introduce 

the actual deadly weapon at trial.  "The evidence is sufficient if a witness 

to the crime has testified to the presence of such a weapon, as happened 
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here.... The evidence may be circumstantial; no weapon need be produced 

or introduced." Tongate, at 754, 613 P.2d 121.” Bowman at 803.  

Faust, 93 Wn.App. at 381- n.6; 

“…when the Legislature adopted the definition of a 
firearm in 1983, the Washington Supreme Court had 
clearly set out the definition of firearm in both Tongate 
and Pam. And the definition did not limit firearms to 
only those guns capable of being fired during the 
commission of the crime. Rather, the court 
characterized a firearm as a gun in fact, not a toy gun; 
and the real gun need not be loaded or even capable of 
being fired to be a firearm.  
In addition, we have consistently held that an unloaded 
weapon is a deadly weapon. [6] See (State v. Sullivan, 
47 Wash.App. 81, 733 P.2d 598 (1987); State v. 
Rahier, 37 Wn.App. 571, 681 P.2d 1299 (1984); State 
v. Beaton, 34 Wn.App. 125, 128, 659 P.2d 1129 
(1983)). 
[6] The State also points out that eyewitness testimony 
to a real gun that is neither discharged nor recovered is 
sufficient to support deadly weapons and/or firearms 
penalty enhancements. See (State v. Bowman, 36 
Wn.App. 798, 803-04, 678 P.2d 1273 (1984); State v. 
Mathe, 35 Wn.App. 572, 582, 668 P.2d 599 (1983); 
State v. Goforth, 33 Wn.App. 405, 411, 655 P.2d 714 
(1982)). 
 

The victim never wavered from her assertion that this was a “gun” 

not a toy not a wallet, it was a gun.  And while she may not have been an 

expert in ascertaining the make, model and caliber of that weapon the 

following series of questions clearly support the jury’s determination and 

the court’s imposition of the weapon enhancements: 

CHEN: Alright. And what happened next?  
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WHITE: He um, came up to me with a gun in his hand and 
demanded my purse.  
CHEN: Now, when he demanded your purse with a gun, at 
that point itself did you see the gun or did he just say---did he 
mention anything about a gun?  
WHITE: Did he mention?  
CHEN: Did you see the purse or did he mention that he had a 
gun when he demanded your purse?  
WHITE: He put the gun in my face. 
RP 428 
CHEN: Okay.  
WHITE: And said, “Give me your purse.”  
CHEN: And uh, forgive me for asking this. Um, how did you 
feel when that gun was placed in your face?  
WHITE: Just feels like the blood just drains.  
RP 429 
… 
CHEN: Alright. And did he---what about the gun? Did he 
have the gun when he went inside and told you to drive?  
WHITE: He did.  
CHEN: Okay. Uh, at what point did you observe or see 
PR 430 
the gun again while in that---inside the car?  
WHITE: Um, I didn’t see it again. I at one point when we 
were actually driving I thought I heard the clicking of 
something behind my head.  
CHEN: And what did you think it was?  
WHITE: I just---I thought it was the gun.  
CHEN: Okay. And what did you think was happening to the 
gun at that point?  
WHITE: I just assumed he was getting ready to use it.  
RP 431 
… 
SWAN: Okay. And during that conversation you had um, 
with Officer Martin, she asked you whether or not you could 
identify the gun that you thought you saw. Right?  
WHITE: Uh, I don’t remember that. But---  
SWAN: Okay. You have familiarity to what talked to Officer 
Martin about back on June 17th, 2013?  
WHITE: It was, again, a recounting of events similar to what 
I’ve---  
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SWAN: Okay.  
WHITE: Shared today.  
SWAN: Okay. You recall telling Officer Martin the gun you 
thought you saw was small?  
WHITE: Right.  
SWAN: Okay. And that you thought it was dark grey or 
black.  
WHITE: Right.  
SWAN: Okay. Um, do you recall telling her you didn’t know 
whether it was real or not?  
WHITE: I’ve never seen a gun in real life.  
SWAN: Okay. So, let’s talk about that a moment. Um, you’re 
not very familiar with guns. Probably seen them on TV or 
movies though, right?  
WHITE: Yes.  
SWAN: Okay. So, we think of a revolver as the kind of gun 
that you might see in a western. Something like that. Versus a 
RP 451 
semi-automatic which is a lot smoother. Do you know the 
difference between a revolver and a semi-automatic?  
WHITE: No.  
SWAN: They all look the same to you?  
WHITE: They don’t look the same.  
SWAN: Okay. 
WHITE: But I wouldn’t know them by name.  
SWAN: Okay. So, this particular handgun that you thought 
Mr. Tasker was holding, can you give us any kind of 
description at all besides that it was small and dark grey or 
black?  
WHITE: No.  
SWAN: Okay. Any chance it could’ve been anything besides 
a handgun?  
WHITE: No.  
SWAN: Could it have been somebody’s wallet, cell phone, 
anything else?  
WHITE: No, sir.  
SWAN: Okay. You said the um, when describing the size of 
the gun you said it was palm sized.  
WHITE: Like I said earlier, it was a size that he could hold in 
one hand.  
RP 542 
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… 
SWAN: Now you told us earlier that was the um, that was the 
only time you actually saw this gun. Is that right?  
WHITE: Yes.  
SWAN: You described for us that later you thought you 
heard something that sounded like a gun. Correct?  
WHITE: I said that I heard a clicking behind my head.  
SWAN: Okay. And so you made some assumptions that that 
might be a gun? 
RP 453 
WHITE: Yes. 
… 
 SWAN: Okay. Any chance that the clicking that you’re 
hearing now is perhaps something that never happened, but 
you’re just thinking that must’ve happened? Any chance 
that’s sort of a---maybe you just think it happened, but it 
didn’t really?  
WHITE: No.  
SWAN: Okay. So you know that that happened? You heard 
the clicking and you thought that was the gun? Or could be?  
WHITE: I knew that I heard a clicking.  
SWAN: Okay.  
RP 456 
… 
CHEN: Okay. Do you recall telling him about the clicking 
sound?  
WHITE: I thought I had mentioned it then.  
CHEN: Thank you. And um, he asked you about could it 
been a cellphone, or a wallet that you’d seen. Why did you 
tell the officers and why do you describe it as a gun and not a 
cell phone or wallet?  
WHITE: It wasn’t a cell phone or a wallet.  
CHEN: Okay. It was a gun. Is that correct?  
WHITE: It was a gun. 
RP 459 
 
The additional factor that must be considered by this court is what 

actions the victim took based on her belief that this was a gun, a real gun, 

she literally jumped from a moving vehicle to get away from Tasker.   She 
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was willing to suffer the consequences of that action based on her belief 

that what he held in his hand was a gun, not a toy gun a real gun; 

CHEN: And when you unbuckled the seatbelt did he say 
anything at all to you about you unbuckling the seatbelt?  
WHITE: As I unbuckled the seatbelt I also opened door. 
And as I was jumping out I heard him yell, “No. No.”  
CHEN: Okay. And why did you jump out of the vehicle?  
WHITE: All I could think about was my kids. I just needed to 
see my kids. I don’t know what his intentions were. I don’t 
care to know what his intentions were. At that moment I just 
needed to get away.  
CHEN: Alright. And uh, during that encounter did you get a 
look at that person?  
WHITE: Yes.  
CHEN: Okay. Is that person in this courtroom this afternoon, 
Miss Campos-White?  
WHITE: Yes.  
CHEN: And can you point him out, please?  
WHITE: He’s right here.  
… 
CHEN: Okay. But as far as general vicinity of where you 
were being asked to---where he was leading you uh, 
direction wise, do you recall what would’ve---what would 
be on that area if you were to keep going where he was 
telling you to go?  
WHITE: Uh, I don’t know what is there now. I just 
remember in that area of Selah, to my recollection, there are 
orchards.  
CHEN: Okay.  
WHITE: Um, up that little hill not much beyond those little 
houses in that area there. So, I can’t imagine that there’s 
anything else back there. But, I haven’t been back there in a 
long time.  
CHEN: Alright. And believing that or knowing that RP 447 
that’s the direction you may be going, how did you feel?  
WHITE: I just knew that there was nothing back there or I 
believed that there is nothing back there for him to be 
needing to take me up there.  
CHEN: Were you concerned for your safety?  
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WHITE: I was concerned for my safety. Yes. 
CHEN: Okay. Thank you. What type of injuries did you 
sustain after you---when you jumped out of the---your car. 
… 
WHITE: Other than cuts and bruises I had a sprained ankle 
and a pretty severe concussion that let (sic- It is clear this 
should be “led” not “let”, this is just one of an innumerable 
number of errors in the transcription of this trial.) to loss of 
taste and smell. 
RP 448 
 
The observation of the Ms. Campos-White without doubt describe 

a “real gun” not some toy.  She testified that she believed that the clicking 

noise was Tasker preparing to use this gun.  If she believed that it was a 

toy gun there would have been no fear for her safety from the “use” of the 

toy and therefore no need to throw herself from a moving car, a jump that 

resulted in an injury that caused her to permanently loose her ability to 

taste and smell.   

Obviously no person would risk their life jumping out of a moving 

care to get away from a toy gun.    

RESPONSE TO ISSUE TWO – SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT  

Our State Supreme court stated in State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 

531, 535, 295 P.3d 219 (2013)  

…we reaffirm our precedent, holding that 
determinations of same criminal conduct are 
reviewed for abuse of discretion or misapplication 
of law. The Court of Appeals erroneously applied a 
de novo standard of review and in doing so, 
inappropriately placed the burden of proof on the 
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State. Applying the correct standard, we hold that 
the sentencing court neither abused its discretion 
nor misapplied the law in refusing to treat 
Graciano's crimes as part of the same criminal 
conduct. 
 

Graciano affirmed a long line of cases that supported that rule that 

a trial court's determination of what constitutes the same criminal conduct 

for purposes of calculating an offender score will not be reversed absent 

an abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law. State v. Till, 139

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